2006

Joel Sill v. Bill Hart dba Hart Construction : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court of Utah has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(a) of the Utah Code.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Whether the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(4)(a) (hereinafter, “**Subsection 4(a)**”) apply to counterclaims. (Order of the Supreme Court of State of Utah, dated May 19, 2006, granting certiorari). This issue presents a matter of statutory interpretation, which is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *See e.g., Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 17, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203.

Issue No. 2: Whether the requirements of Subsection 4(a) apply regardless of the availability of remedies to a property owner under the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act. (Order of the Supreme Court of State of Utah, dated May 19, 2006, granting certiorari). This issue also is one of statutory interpretation which is reviewed for correctness. *Rushton*, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 37, 977 P.2d at 1203.¹

¹ This Court granted certiorari on the original petition that was first filed by Appellant Bill Hart, d/b/a Hart Construction (“**Hart**”) as to the two above-listed issues. The Court also stated that certiorari was granted on the cross-petition that was later-filed by Appellee Joel Sill (“**Sill**”) as to the issue of whether Subsection 4(a) creates a jurisdictional bar. Pursuant to Rules 51(b)(4) and 24(g) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Hart expressly reserves all rights to fully brief and address the merits of Sill’s arguments regarding the claimed “jurisdictional” nature of Subsection 4(a) after such arguments have first been briefed by Sill for presentation to the Court. Hart notes, however, that the Court need not even reach any analysis as to whether Subsection 4(a) is jurisdictional, since on its face Subsection 4(a) does not apply to this case to begin with, as discussed more fully in this brief.

CONTROLLING STATUTES

The following controlling statutes are applicable to this appeal:²

Utah Code § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001): [Mechanics' Liens] Enforcement --Time for --Lis pendens --Action for debt not affected --Instructions and form affidavit and motion.

(4)(a) If a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien filed under this chapter involving a residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, the lien claimant shall include with the service of the complaint on the owner of the residence:

(i) instructions to the owner of the residence relating to the owner's rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act; and

(ii) a form affidavit and motion for summary judgment to enable the owner of the residence to specify the grounds upon which the owner may exercise available rights under Title 38, Chapter 11, Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act. (Emphasis added).

Utah Code § 38-11-107 (2001): [Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act] Restrictions upon maintaining a lien against residence or owner's interest in the residence.

(1) A person qualified to file a lien upon an owner-occupied residence and the real property associated with that residence under the provisions of Title 38, Chapter 1, Mechanics' Liens, who provides qualified services under an agreement effective on or after January 1, 1995, other than directly with the owner, shall be barred after January 1, 1995, from maintaining a lien upon that residence and real property or recovering a judgment in any civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied residence to recover monies owed for qualified services provided by that person if: . . . (Emphasis added).

² The statutes determinative of this case that are therefore cited in this brief are those that were in place when Hart filed his answer and counterclaim in February of 2002.

Utah Code § 38-11-204 (2001): [Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act] Claims against the fund --Requirement to make a claim -- Qualifications to receive compensation.

(3) To recover from the [Residential Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund], regardless of whether the residence is occupied by the owner, a subsequent owner, or the owner or subsequent owner's tenant or lessee, a qualified beneficiary shall establish that:

. . .

(b) the owner has paid in full the original contractor, licensed or exempt from licensure under Title 58, Chapter 55, Utah Construction Trades Licensing Act, real estate developer, or factory built housing retailer under Subsection (3)(a) with whom the owner has a written contract in accordance with the written contract and any amendments to the contract, and: . . . (Emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

This action was filed by Plaintiff Joel Sill (“**Sill**”), who served a complaint upon Defendant Bill Hart, d/b/a Hart Construction (“**Hart**”) relating to the parties’ agreement for the construction by Hart of improvements to real property owned by Sill. Hart then filed with the district court and served upon Sill’s attorneys an answer that also included a counterclaim (the “**Counterclaim**”) in which Hart sought, among other things, to foreclose a mechanics’ lien securing payment from Sill for the improvements Hart made to Sill’s property.

After two and a half years of litigation and discovery, in the week just before the start of trial, Sill for the first time raised to Hart an argument that Hart’s mechanics’ lien foreclosure claim was defective because Hart had not served upon Sill a form affidavit

and motion for summary judgment, and instructions for use of those forms in exercise of certain rights available to some homeowners under Utah’s Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act (Utah Code §§ 38-11-101 *et seq.* – hereinafter, the “**LRFA**”). Sill argued that service of such LRFA instructions and forms was required of Hart by Utah Code section 38-1-11(4)(a) (identified and referred to above, and hereinafter, as “**Subsection 4(a)**”) of Utah’s mechanics’ lien statutes (Utah Code §§ 38-1-1 *et seq.*).

The case proceeded to trial. The jury returned a verdict in favor of Hart, awarding him the full principal amount of \$314,500.00 that he requested on his unjust enrichment and mechanics’ lien claims. Hart also ultimately was awarded an additional \$303,305.55 in attorney fees, costs, and prejudgment interest.

When Hart attempted to reduce the jury’s verdict to a judgment, Sill opposed that effort by arguing that attorney fees and prejudgment interest were not recoverable from him, and that Hart’s mechanics’ lien could not be foreclosed because Sill had not been served with LRFA instructions and forms when Hart served his Counterclaim on Sill’s attorneys, which Sill claimed was required by Subsection 4(a). Sill did not object to the amount of fees and interest.

After extensive briefing and oral argument by the parties, the district court issued a well-reasoned “Memorandum Decision” (the “**Decision**”) rejecting Sill’s Subsection 4(a) arguments and declaring:

The plain language of Subsection (4) compels the conclusion that the Utah Legislature limited the obligation of a lien claimant to serve a homeowner with the materials referenced in Subsection (4)(a) to those instances in

which the lien claimant was initiating an action through service of a complaint and not a counterclaim. **First**, while “[t]he word ‘action’ without more is arguably broad enough to encompass any type of judicial proceeding, including counterclaims” (*Local Union No. 38, Sheet Metal Workers’ Int’l v. Pelella*, 350 F.3d 73, 81 (2nd Cir. 2003) (citations omitted)), read in the context of Subsection (4), it is qualified by the reference to “service of the complaint.” **Second**, this reference to a complaint is to a pleading that is filed at the commencement of a lawsuit and that is commonly understood to be distinct from a counterclaim. *See e.g., Local Union No. 38, Sheet Metal Workers’ Int’l v. Pelella*, 350 F.3d at 82; *see also* Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 3 (“A civil action is commenced (1) by filing of a complaint . . . , or (2) by service of a summons together with a copy of the complaint”) & 7(a) (distinguishing a complaint from other pleadings). **Third**, had the Legislature intended Sill’s construction, it could have easily provided for it (*e.g.*, by substituting the words “initial pleading” for “complaint” in Subsection (4)(a)). [R. 1464 (Decision, p. 3 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added). A copy of the district court’s Decision is attached hereto as Addendum No. 1)].

Since Sill (rather than Hart) filed this action and served a “complaint,” and since what Hart served on Sill’s attorneys was instead an answer that included the Counterclaim, the district court held Subsection 4(a) did not apply to this case, that Hart was not required to serve upon Sill any of the referenced LRFA materials, and that Hart was therefore entitled to recover prejudgment interest, attorney fees and costs, and to foreclose his mechanics’ lien. (R. 1462-66 (Decision), Addendum No. 3 hereto).

Consistent with the Decision, a “Final Judgment, Order and Decree of Foreclosure” (the “**Order**”) was signed, approved as to form by legal counsel for Sill, and entered by the district court. The Order, among other things, confirmed the validity and enforceability of Hart’s mechanics’ lien foreclosure Counterclaim and awarded all of the prejudgment interest, attorney fees, and costs claimed by Hart, the amount of which

Sill did not dispute. (R. 1467-71). A copy of the district court's Order is attached hereto as Addendum No. 4.

Sill appealed the district court's Decision. The Utah Court of Appeals reversed, stating that Subsection 4(a) "does not require the service specifically of a complaint," that "the statute here is triggered '[i]f a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien,'" and that for that purpose "the term 'complaint,' as it is used in section 38-1-11(4)(a), includes counterclaims." *Sill v. Hart*, 128 P.3d 1215, 1218 & 1219, ¶¶ 9 & 13 (Utah Ct. App. 2005), *rehearing denied* (January 5, 2006). A copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion (the "**Opinion**") is attached hereto as Addendum No. 1. The appellate court therefore remanded the case for further proceedings to determine whether attorney fees and prejudgment interest were recoverable by Hart, applying Subsection 4(a) to Hart but also in light of Sill's failure to raise Subsection 4(a) as an affirmative defense in his reply to the Counterclaim. *Id.* at 1219, ¶¶ 15-17 (Court of Appeals' Opinion, Addendum No. 1 hereto). Hart timely filed with the Court of Appeals a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied without explanation. A copy of the Court of Appeals Order denying the Petition for Rehearing is attached hereto as Addendum No. 2. Hart then petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' Opinion, which was granted.

II. Statement of Facts

1. Sill owned certain real property in Summit County, Utah. (*See e.g.*, R. 1-33 (Sill's Complaint, ¶¶ 4 & 10)).

2. Sill, as the owner, entered into an agreement directly with Hart, as the original or general contractor, for Hart to construct improvements to Sill's property. (*See e.g.*, R. 1-33 (Sill's Complaint, ¶ 11)).

3. In January, 2002, Sill filed this action and a complaint against Hart claiming, among other things, a breach of the parties' construction agreement. (*See e.g.*, R. 1-33 (Sill's Complaint)).

4. Sill then served his complaint on Hart. (*See e.g.*, R. 34-36).

5. In February, 2002, Hart filed an answer to Sill's complaint, and included a counterclaim, and later an amended counterclaim (identified and referred to above, and hereinafter, collectively, as the "**Counterclaim**"), in which Hart sought, among other things, to foreclose a mechanics' lien securing payment from Sill for the improvements Hart made to Sill's property. (*See e.g.*, R. 37-58; R. 59-81).

6. At all times throughout this case, Sill has always been represented by legal counsel. (*See e.g.*, R. 1-33; district court's docket generally).

7. Hart served his Counterclaim by mail upon Sill's attorneys of record in this case. (*See e.g.*, R. 58; R. 81).

8. After the jury awarded Hart the full \$314,500.00 principal amount he claimed was owed by Sill, and after hearing and rejecting Sill's arguments made after the trial for application of Subsection 4(a) to this case, the district court awarded Hart, among

other things, an additional combined amount of \$303,305.55 in reasonable attorney fees, costs, and prejudgment interest. (R. 1467-71). Sill did not appeal any of the amounts awarded to Hart. Sill appealed only the district court's Decision rejecting his claim that Subsection 4(a) somehow barred recovery of attorney fees and prejudgment interest. (R. 1244-48, 1369-79, 1383-94, 1411-20, 1448-53, 1493).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Based upon its conclusion that Subsection 4(a) of Utah's mechanics' lien statutes applied to this case, the Utah Court of Appeals reversed portions of the district court's Decision and Order awarding to Hart more than \$300,000 in attorney fees, court costs, and prejudgment interest upon Hart's successful prosecution of his Counterclaim to foreclose his mechanics' lien. The question for review by this Court is whether the Utah Court of Appeals erred in reversing the district court and in holding for the first time ever that Subsection 4(a) requires counterclaiming general contractors to serve upon homeowners who sue them instructions and forms relating to rights available to some homeowners as against only subcontractors under the LRFA, or else lose all of their rights and remedies under Utah's mechanics' lien statutes.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion is contrary to the plain language of Subsection 4(a) specifically, to the long-recognized intent, purpose and policy of Utah's mechanics' lien statutes generally, and to several canons of statutory construction. The Court of Appeals' Opinion also is contrary to the LRFA under which Sill admittedly had no rights in this case and which Sill admits did not apply to and would not have made any

difference to the outcome of this case. The Court of Appeals' Opinion essentially, as a matter of first impression, punishes Hart for not providing Sill instructions and forms that Hart, as a counterclaimant, was not required to provide on the face of Subsection 4(a), and which Sill admits he could not have used in this case in any event.

Subsection 4(a) expressly applies only if the lien claimant files an action and serves a "complaint" on the owner of residential property. In this case, it was the owner, Sill, who served a complaint upon Hart. As the defendant in the case, Hart indisputably never filed or served a complaint on Sill. Rather, Hart's mechanics' lien foreclosure was a part of Hart's Counterclaim that was served by mail upon Sill's attorneys.

Subsection 4(a)'s reference to service of LRFA instructions and forms with a "complaint," therefore, does not apply to this case. The Court of Appeals' Opinion applying Subsection 4(a) to Hart's Counterclaim changed the plain language of the statute as chosen and drafted by the Legislature. Such alterations of legislative enactments are in derogation of established rules of statutory construction, and if allowed to stand would impermissibly create traps for parties and their legal counsel who could no longer rely upon or follow the plain language of statutes. This Court should therefore reverse the Court of Appeals' Opinion, and confirm that by virtue of its express reference to service of a "complaint" Subsection 4(a) does not apply to Hart's Counterclaim in this case.

This Court should also reverse the Court of Appeals' Opinion because service of LRFA instructions and forms that are the subject of this case would have been a completely useless act that would not have made any difference whatsoever to the

outcome of this case. The LRFA instructions and forms referenced in Subsection 4(a) relate solely to rights available to certain homeowners as against only liens of subcontractors, and only after the homeowner has paid in full the original general contractor. Sill admits that Hart was his general contractor, not a subcontractor subject to the LRFA. Sill also had not paid Hart in full, as the jury found and from which Sill does not appeal. Sill therefore indisputably had no rights under the LRFA in this case. Since Subsection 4(a) expressly requires service of LRFA instructions and forms only relating to “available rights” of “the owner” under the LRFA, and since Sill admittedly and indisputably had no such rights of any kind in this case, Subsection 4(a) does not require service of the referenced LRFA instructions and forms in this case which simply do not apply and would have been of no use to Sill whatsoever.

This Court should reverse the Utah Court of Appeals’ interpretation of Subsection 4(a) which is contrary to the long-recognized legislative purpose of the mechanics’ lien statutes to protect those such as Hart who perform work upon and provide improvements to real property. The Court of Appeals’ interpretation of Subsection 4(a) as an impediment to Hart’s lien foreclosure Counterclaim in this case is contrary to the language of Subsection 4(a), and to the mechanics’ lien laws generally. That interpretation grants to Sill a windfall in the form of a luxury home built by Hart without Sill having to pay for it for more than two years and without paying at all the accrued interest and the attorney fees that Hart had to expend forcing collection of the

amount due and owing to him by virtue of Sill's refusal to pay.³ This Court should not reward Sill with such a windfall to Hart's substantial detriment, including as a matter of law under the express language of Subsection 4(a) which the Court of Appeals misinterpreted. This Court should instead reverse the Court of Appeals and uphold the district court's Decision and Order declaring Subsection 4(a) inapplicable, and otherwise not any bar, to Hart's mechanics' lien foreclosure Counterclaim.

ARGUMENT

I. SUBSECTION 4(a) EXPRESSLY APPLIES ONLY WHEN A LIEN CLAIMANT FILES AND SERVES A "COMPLAINT," AND THEREFORE DOES NOT APPLY TO COUNTERCLAIMS

The Court of Appeals' application of Subsection 4(a) to Hart's Counterclaim is contrary to the plain language of that statute. On its face Subsection 4(a) expressly applies only when a lien claimant files and serves on a defendant property owner a "complaint." At the time Sill initiated this action by filing his complaint, Subsection 4(a) read as follows:

³ While this case has been pending on appeal, Sill has paid Hart the principal amount owed for Hart's work upon and improvements to the Property, which the jury awarded in precisely the amount originally claimed by Hart, and the costs that were awarded to Hart. Sill has not paid, however, the prejudgment interest and attorney fee amounts awarded by the district court and not appealed by Sill. This Court has recognized that recovery of attorney fees is vitally important to mechanics' liens. "The purpose of the mechanic's lien is to protect those whose labor or materials have enhanced the value of property. [The attorney fee provision of the mechanic's lien statutes] strengthens that protection by ensuring someone who successfully uses a mechanic's lien to enforce a payment obligation for such enhancement will not ultimately bear the legal costs of that enforcement action. It also functions as a penalty for one who wrongly fails to pay for enhancement to his property." *A.K.&R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy*, 2004 UT 47, ¶ 24, 94 P.3d 270, 276.

(4)(a) If a lien claimant files an action to enforce a lien filed under this chapter involving a residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, the lien claimant shall include with the service of the complaint on the owner of the residence: [(Utah Code § 38-1-11(4)(a) (2001) (emphasis added)].

Subsection 4(a) expressly applies only if the lien claimant files an action and serves a “complaint” on a homeowner to foreclose a mechanics’ lien. Subsection 4(a) therefore does not apply to this case in which it is Sill, the homeowner, who is the plaintiff that filed the action and served a complaint, while Hart, the lien claimant, is the defendant who instead filed an answer and Counterclaim.

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