2006

Joel Sill v. Bill Hart dba Hart Construction : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

B. The plain language of subsection (4)(a) requires that all lien claimants, including general or original contractors like Hart, comply with its provisions.

Apparently as an alternative to his argument that subsection (4)(a) does not apply to counterclaims because it references service of a “complaint,” Hart contends that, in any event, (4)(a) did not require him to serve the referenced instructions and forms

because Sill had no rights under the LRFA with respect to Hart, a general or original contractor (hereafter simply “general contractor”). Hart reasons that because the LRFA gives a homeowner rights only with respect to subcontractors, the legislature could not have intended for subsection (4)(a) to apply to a general contractor like himself.⁹ As explained below, that argument fails for a variety of reasons.

1. Subsection (4)(a)’s plain language

The initial problem with Hart’s argument is that it fails to recognize that subsection (4)(a), by its terms, sets a notice requirement that applies to *all* lien claimants. As previously noted, the clear purpose of (4)(a) is to ensure that a homeowner is alerted to the rights created by the LRFA when a lien claimant brings an action to enforce a mechanics’ lien. Under the plain language of (4)(a), a “lien claimant” who “files an action to enforce a lien filed under [the mechanics’ lien statutes] involving a residence” must serve with the “complaint” (which, as previously discussed, naturally includes a counterclaim complaint) certain instructions and forms relating to the LRFA. Hart argues that notwithstanding that plain language, (4)(a) is not reasonably interpreted to obligate a general contractor like himself – as opposed to a subcontractor – to comply with its requirements, because the LRFA only applies to claims and liens of subcontractors, not to those of general contractors. The

⁹ Although Hart does not come right out and say it, his argument necessarily applies to any general contractor who brings an action to enforce a mechanics’ lien against a homeowner, whether that is by the filing of an original complaint as a plaintiff or by the filing of a counterclaim as a defendant. In other words, Hart’s argument is that

fundamental problem with that argument is that the plain language of (4)(a) must be ignored to adopt Hart's view.

Nowhere in the mechanics' lien statutes, subsection (4)(a) included, is there so much as a hint that "lien claimant" does not include a general contractor like Hart. Where the legislature intended to draw distinctions between a general (or original) contractor and a subcontractor, it used those specific terms to distinguish the two. *See, e.g.,* UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 38-1-2 (defining and distinguishing "original contractor" and "subcontractor"), -14 (separating "original contractors" and "subcontractors"), -17 (separating "contractor" and "subcontractor") (2005). Thus, on its face, subsection (4)(a)'s requirement that the "lien claimant" serve certain instructions and forms on the sued homeowner applies to anyone who has filed a lien under the mechanics' lien statutes, including a general contractor. Had the legislature intended to limit the reach of subsection (4)(a) to subcontractors, then it would have said just that – for example: "If a lien claimant *who is a subcontractor* files an action to enforce a lien * * *."

There also is no merit to Hart's additional argument that subsection (4)(a) does not apply in the situation where the homeowner ultimately is unable to exercise rights under the LRFA. Subsection (4)(a) does not limit the instructions/forms requirement to those situations where the homeowner ultimately is able to exercise rights under the LRFA. Nor does it exempt from that requirement a lien claimant who may believe the

subsection (4)(a) does not apply to a general contractor under any circumstances, because the homeowner has no rights against a general contractor under the LRFA.

owner has no such rights. Subsection (4)(a) simply sets forth a notice requirement with which the lien claimant must comply.

Hart's view that serving the required instructions and forms on Sill or other homeowners in his position would be useless is of no import. The legislature has decided otherwise, and "[i]t is not the function of this Court to evaluate the wisdom or practical necessities of legislative enactments." *Redwood Gym v. Salt Lake County Commission*, 624 P.2d 1138, 1143 (Utah 1981). Obviously, the legislature did not want the lien claimant deciding whether the homeowner in a given case is eligible for relief under the LRFA; it wanted to ensure that the sued owner would be the one making that determination, informed by the instructions and forms served in compliance with subsection (4)(a). Hart cannot escape the mandatory requirements of subsection (4)(a) simply because he thinks they are a bad idea under certain circumstances. *See LKL v. Farley*, 2004 UT 51, ¶ 8, 94 P.3d 279 (rejecting condominium owners' broad interpretation of the term "residences" as used in the LRFA as contrary to the statutory definition, and observing that although "their argument might represent good policy, * * * [i]n order for this court to accept the owners' position and affirm the trial court, we would be forced to ignore a clear statutory mandate and render the definition chosen by the legislature meaningless").

Instructive on this point is *Landmark Systems, Inc. v. Delmar Redevelopment Corp.*, 900 S.W.2d 258 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995), where the Missouri Court of Appeals correctly rejected a similar attack on a notice requirement in that state's mechanic's lien

statutes. There, the lien claimant argued that its failure to comply with the requirement should not bar its lien because the liened property owner was “a large corporation sophisticated in the areas of real estate and construction” and “had knowledge of the mechanic’s lien law.” 900 S.W.2d at 261. The court disagreed:

It is true, as [the lien claimant] suggests, the purpose of § 429.012 is to warn inexperienced property owners of the danger to them which lurks in the mechanic’s lien statute. However, this court is also aware the requirements of our statute are mandatory. The statute does not limit the necessity of this notice to those inexperienced with, or having lack of knowledge about, the mechanic’s lien laws. The statute has no exceptions and this court will not accept the invitation to create an exception in this case. Additionally, * * * allowing a lien where there was not substantial compliance with the notice provision contained in § 429.012 would add another issue to each mechanic’s lien case, namely the extent of the property owner’s knowledge of the mechanic’s lien laws. The fact such an exception was not incorporated into the statute indicates the legislature did not intend such a result.

900 S.W.2d at 261-62 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

That analysis applies with equal force here in determining the reach of subsection (4)(a). Whether the circumstances in any given case are such that a homeowner is or is not in a position to exercise rights under the LRFA may be an issue in many mechanics’ lien cases when litigation begins. It is precisely for that reason that the legislature could have reasonably determined that subsection (4)(a)’s requirements would apply to all lien claimants, thereby avoiding litigation on the question of whether

a lien claimant in a particular case justifiably decided not to provide the homeowner with the instructions and forms.¹⁰

In sum, subsection (4)(a) plainly applies to all lien claimants, Hart included.

The legislature did not carve out any exceptions to the instructions and forms requirement, and this Court should not create one.¹¹

¹⁰ Hart makes much out of the reference to “available rights” in subsection (4)(a)(ii), arguing that because Sill had no rights against him as a general contractor, he therefore was relieved of any obligation to comply with subsection (4)(a). As previously discussed, had the legislature intended to exempt general contractors from the requirements of (4)(a), it would have made that explicit by limiting “lien claimant” to subcontractors. Despite all of Hart’s protestations, the plain language of (4)(a) requires all lien claimants who bring an action to enforce a mechanics’ lien – general contractors and subcontractors alike – to serve the instructions and forms. That the “available rights” for a homeowner under the LRFA may only be against subcontractors is of no consequence. The legislature obviously intended for this notice provision to apply to all lien claimants. In any event, even if Hart’s tortured interpretation of (4)(a)(ii) were correct, the “available rights” language only refers to the “form affidavit and motion for summary judgment” that must be served; there is no similar language in (4)(a)(i), which requires that the “instructions” be served. Thus, even under Hart’s proposed interpretation of (4)(a)(ii), he still would not be relieved of the obligation to serve the instructions under (4)(a)(i). He, of course, failed to do that.

Additionally, Hart takes issue with the court of appeals’ statement that “the responsibility of determining whether the owner being sued has rights under the [LRFA] does not belong to the lien claimant.” *Sill*, 2005 UT App at ¶ 9 n.3 (Pet.’s Br. 26). He insists that because he is a general contractor, as opposed to a subcontractor, subsection (4)(a) must be construed not to apply to him. Again, Hart is asking this Court, as he did the court of appeals, to ignore the plain language of the statute, which obligates a “lien claimant” to do certain things, drawing no distinction between the lien claimant who is a general contractor and the lien claimant who is a subcontractor.

¹¹ The legislative history Hart cites provides him no help. It only confirms what the parties have acknowledged all along: The LRFA applies to claims and liens by subcontractors. That fact does not alter the analysis of what legislative intent the plain language of subsection (4)(a) reflects, insofar as the notice requirements in that provision are concerned.

2. The statutory scheme

The additional flaw in Hart's argument that subsection (4)(a) could not apply to general contractors due to the reference to the LRFA is that it ignores other related statutory provisions which undermine that view. A quick look at the statutory scheme the legislature has adopted for providing a homeowner notice of LRFA rights illustrates the point.

Hart's implicit argument that the legislature could not have intended to require a general contractor (as opposed to a subcontractor) to give the homeowner notice of rights under the LRFA through the service of the papers specified in subsection (4)(a) is defeated by other provisions in the mechanics' lien statutes. Two prominent provisions illustrate that the legislature intended to require a general contractor to give the homeowner notice of LRFA rights throughout the contractor-homeowner relationship.

First, a general contractor has a statutory obligation to give the homeowner notice of those rights early on in that relationship:

Beginning July 1, 1995, the original contractor or real estate developer shall state in the written contract with the owner what actions are necessary for the owner to be protected under Section 38-11-107 [(part of the LRFA)] from the maintaining of a mechanic's lien or other civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied residence to recover monies owed for qualified services.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-108(1) (2005). Second, a lien claimant – whether a general contractor or a subcontractor – is required to inform the homeowner of LRFA rights at the time the lien is filed:

(2) The notice required by Subsection (1) shall contain a statement setting forth:

* * *

(h) if the lien is on an owner-occupied residence, as defined in Section 38-11-102, a statement describing what steps an owner, as defined in Section 38-11-102, may take to require a lien claimant to remove the lien in accordance with Section 38-11-107.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(2)(a)(ix) (2005).

The foregoing provisions obviously are relevant to determining what the legislature intended in adopting the strict notice requirement for a lien claimant that appears in section 38-1-11(4)(a). A court must “read the plain language of the statute as a whole, *and interpret its provisions in harmony with other statutes in the same chapter and related chapters.*” *Miller v. Weaver*, 2003 UT 12, ¶ 17, 66 P.3d 592 (emphasis added). When the entire statutory scheme is considered, one is unable to conclude, as Hart contends, that the legislature intended to exclude a general contractor when it referenced “lien claimant” in subsection (4)(a).

C. The court of appeals’ construction of subsection (4)(a) does not undermine the basic purpose of the mechanics’ lien statutes.

Hart’s final attack on the court of appeals’ interpretation of subsection (4)(a) is that it undermines the intent and purpose of the mechanics’ lien statutes. Specifically, he contends that the court of appeals’ decision is contrary to “[t]he purpose of the mechanic’s lien * * * to protect those whose labor or materials have enhanced the value of property.” *A.K. & R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy*, 2004 UT 47,

¶ 24, 94 P.3d 270. *See* Pet.’s Br. 29-31. He apparently is of the view that any homeowner-protective interpretation of a provision in the mechanics’ lien statutes cannot stand because it is contrary to that general purpose. That view, however, is at odds with the settled principle that “compliance with the [procedural provisions of the mechanics’ lien] statute[s] is required before a party is entitled to the benefits created by the statute[s].” *AAA Fencing Company v. Raintree Development and Energy Company*, 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1989).

In short, the general purpose of the mechanics’ lien statutes to protect those who have enhanced the value of property by supplying materials or labor does not permit a court or lien claimant to ignore procedural requirements in the statutory scheme that are designed to protect the homeowner as opposed to the lien claimant. Given that a “mechanics’ lien is a creature of statute,” *AAA Fencing Company*, 714 P.2d at 291, the legislature is free to enact whatever procedural prerequisites to enforcement of a lien and recovery of costs and attorney fees it believes are appropriate. Indeed, prior to the enactment of subsection (4)(a), the legislature had imposed other procedural requirements on the lien claimant, noncompliance with which results in a bar to enforcement of the lien or to the recovery of costs and attorney fees. *See, e.g.*, UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(1) (2005) (setting forth the time period for commencing an action to enforce a lien, which must be complied with or the lien is invalidated, as this Court held in *AAA Fencing Company*); UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-7(3)(c) (2005) (“Failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the

lien claimant from an award of costs and attorneys' fees against the reputed owner or record owner in an action to enforce the lien.").

In light of the foregoing, the court of appeals' construction of the plain language of subsection (4)(a) does not undermine the purpose of the mechanics' lien statutes simply because it is detrimental to Hart's position in this case (that is, to his effort to collect prejudgment interest and attorney fees). Contrary to Hart's contention, the result is not a windfall for Sill.

Hart first complains that the court of appeals' decision unfairly eliminates prejudgment interest owed by Sill. What Hart fails to disclose, however, is that under Utah law he could have asked the jury to include prejudgment interest in the damages awarded on his unjust enrichment claim. *See Shoreline Development, Inc. v. Utah County*, 835 P.2d 207, 212 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) ("we hold that prejudgment interest must be sought directly as damages in unjust enrichment cases"). He did not do that, electing to tie the prejudgment interest request exclusively to the mechanics' lien action. As for his additional complaint that reversal of the attorney fee award unfairly penalizes him, the penalty imposed for his procedural default (*i.e.*, failure to comply with subsection (4)(a)) is no more severe than the penalty the legislature has seen fit to impose for similar procedural defaults. For example, as previously noted, a lien claimant's "failure to deliver or mail the notice of lien to the reputed owner or record owner precludes the lien claimant from an award of costs and attorneys' fees * * * in an action to enforce the lien." § 38-1-7(3)(c).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, this Court should affirm the court of appeals' holding that subsection (4)(a) applied to Hart's counterclaim complaint, which instituted an action to enforce his mechanics' lien against Sill's property.

CROSS-PETITION

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW BY CROSS-PETITIONER AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court granted review on one issue presented by cross-petitioner Joel Sill:

1. Whether a counterclaimant's failure to comply with UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) creates a jurisdictional bar to adjudication of an action to enforce a lien.

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